

**Note from the Codifier:** The OAH website includes notices and the text of proposed temporary rules as required by G.S. 150B-21.1(a1). Prior to the agency adopting the temporary rule, the agency must hold a public hearing no less than five days after the rule and notice have been published and must accept comments for at least 15 business days. For questions, you may contact the Office of Administrative Hearings at 984-236-1850 or email oah.postmaster@oah.nc.gov.

## TITLE 08 – STATE BOARD OF ELECTIONS

**Notice** is hereby given in accordance with G.S. 150B-21.1(a3) that the State Board of Elections intends to adopt the rule cited as 08 NCAC 09 .0110 and amend the rules cited as 08 NCAC 02 .0110; and 09 .0107.

**Codifier of Rules** received for publication the following notice and proposed temporary rule(s) on: June 17, 2024.

### Public Hearing:

**Date:** July 8, 2024

**Time:** 10:00 a.m.

**Location:** State Board Meeting Room, Dobbs Building (Third Floor), 430 N Salisbury St, Raleigh, NC 27603

**Reason for Proposed Temporary Action:** Pursuant to GS 150B-21.1(a)(11), the State Board finds abbreviated notice and hearing to be practical to implement provisions of state law for which the agency may adopt rules, and to preserve the integrity of the elections process. The State Board found that adherence to the notice and hearing requirements of permanent rulemaking would be contrary to the public interest, because it would mean that the proposed rules could not go into effect until after the general election, which is when they are needed to ensure prompt resolution of post-election proceedings. The immediate adoption of the proposed rules is required to implement provisions of the General Statutes governing election protests and recounts, both of which are proceedings the Board is authorized to adopt rules for, and to ensure that these post-election proceedings are concluded in enough time to comply with the deadline in federal law for certifying presidential electors. The abbreviated notice and hearing schedule put forth in this motion are of practical necessity, to gather public input in time to adopt rules in advance of the 2024 general election. Finally, the rules need to become effective immediately in order to preserve the integrity of the elections process, by avoiding unnecessary post-election delays in determining official election results and authorizing election winners to take office, delays which could undermine the public's confidence in the electoral process.

**Comment Procedures:** Comments from the public shall be directed to: Rulemaking Coordinator, PO Box 27255, Raleigh, NC 27611-7255; email rulemaking.sboe@ncsbe.gov (Online comment portal: www.ncsbe.gov/public-comment-portal-protest-and-recount-temporary-rules). The comment period begins June 18, 2024 and ends July 11, 2024.

## CHAPTER 02 - ELECTION PROTESTS

### SECTION .0100 – ELECTION PROTESTS

#### 08 NCAC 02 .0110 ACTIONS OF COUNTY BOARD AS TO ELECTION PROTESTS

(a) The county board shall ~~deliver~~ transmit by email a copy of any filed election protest, including any attachments, to the State Board as follows:

- (1) if hand delivered or mailed, within 24 hours after the election protest is filed;
- (2) if faxed, the same day the election protest is filed; or
- (3) if emailed, the same day the election protest is filed.

(b) The county board shall not consider election protests not timely filed, but shall ~~refer~~ refer, in the same manner and within the time period provided in Paragraph (a) of this Rule, all such untimely protests, along with copies of the protest and attachments, to the State Board office for consideration under G.S. 163-182.12. For the purposes of this Rule, timely means within the time specified in G.S. 163-182.9.

(c) Upon receipt of a timely filed election protest, the county board of elections shall hold a preliminary consideration ~~meeting hearing~~ in accordance with ~~G.S. 163-182.10~~ G.S. 163-182.10 within two business days of when the protest is filed. If the county board dismisses the protest upon preliminary consideration, the county board shall file its written decision at the board office within two business days of the preliminary consideration meeting and shall serve the written decision in the manner provided under Subparagraph (e)(2) of this Rule. If the county board determines that a hearing is necessary, the board shall set the hearing no later than ~~ten~~ five business days from the date of the preliminary ~~consideration,~~ consideration meeting and shall start no earlier than 8:00 a.m. and no later than 8:00 p.m. at any location set by the county board of elections. The county board may continue hearings for good cause as determined by the county board. Only for good cause and upon informing the State Board office, may a hearing be set on or continued to a weekend day or holiday. Examples of good cause include, but are not limited to, procuring documentary evidence or securing witness testimony necessary to conclude the hearing.

(d) Notice of hearing as required by ~~G.S. 163-182.10(b)~~ G.S. 163-182.10(b)(2) shall be given at least three business days prior to the day of the hearing, and the notice shall be provided by any of the following means: required shall be notice by in-person oral notice, written notice to an email address supplied by any person required to receive notice, or, only if the county board lacks an email address, by U.S. mail to an address supplied by any person required to receive notice followed immediately by a phone call, if the person has supplied a phone number to the board. any means chosen by the county board. Any oral notice of the hearing shall be followed with a written notice sent prior to the hearing date. The oral notice shall constitute valid notice meeting the three-day notice requirement.

(e) The county board shall follow these procedures when considering an election protest: Required procedures include:

- (1) Upon request by a protester or interested person, the chair or any two members of the county board may issue subpoenas for ~~witnesses persons or documents.~~ documents, when the chair or two members of the county board conclude that the witnesses or documents are likely to provide information that is both relevant and material to the questions the county board must adjudicate in the protest. Such subpoenas shall be served in the same manner ~~matter~~ as allowed in the North Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.
  - (2) The county board shall notify the person protesting, any affected candidate, and any affected officeholder of its decision in a protest hearing no later than 5:00 p.m. the next day after the conclusion of the hearing itself. The board shall file at the board office a written decision within the mandates of G.S. 163-182.10(d) by 5:00 p.m. ~~three five~~ business days after the conclusion of the protest hearing ~~oral decision is given to the person filing the protest.~~ Such written decision shall be served at the same time it is filed at the board office by email to an email address supplied by any person required to receive notice under G.S. 163-182.10(b). If the county board has no email address for any person required to receive notice under G.S. 163-182.10(b), the board shall serve that person by U.S. mail and immediately call that person, if the person has supplied a phone number to the board, to notify them that the decision has been filed. ~~any means of delivery upon the protestor and any affected candidate or officeholder within 24 hours after being filed at the board office.~~ Nothing herein shall discourage more prompt decisions and written orders.
  - (3) All election protest hearings before county boards shall be recorded by a court ~~reporter.~~ reporter or by mechanical means. The hearing need not be transcribed unless the board's decision is appealed. Upon notice of appeal to the State Board of an election protest, the county board shall cause the record of the hearing to be transcribed and delivered to the State Board, at the county board's expense, within seven business days of the notice of appeal. Transcripts of hearings shall be kept for two years after their creation.
  - (4) ~~If the State Board sets an appeal for hearing, it shall designate who shall appear on behalf of the county board.~~
- (f) A county board of elections shall ~~timely~~ hear and decide all timely filed protests, unless:
- (1) the protest is administratively dismissed pursuant to 08 NCAC 02 .0114; or
  - (2) the county board of elections receives alternative instructions from the State Board issued under G.S. 163-182.12.

If a protest does not concern the manner in which votes were counted or results tabulated, a county board of elections shall not delay canvass in order to hear the protest. A protest that alleges the occurrence of an election law violation regarding an insufficient number of votes to change the outcome of a contest within the jurisdiction of a county board of elections shall not delay canvass by a county board of elections.

*Authority G.S. 163-22; 163-182.10.*

## **CHAPTER 09 - CONDUCT OF VOTE RECOUNTS BY COUNTY BOARDS OF ELECTIONS**

### **08 NCAC 09 .0107 FIRST RECOUNT**

In the first recount conducted by the county board of elections in accordance with G.S. 163-182.7, all ballots that were originally counted shall be ~~counted~~ recounted again by machine. ~~machine, notwithstanding the method by which the ballots were originally counted.~~ All ballots that are rejected for tabulation purposes by the machines during the recount shall be recounted by hand by a bi-partisan team of four in accordance with 08 NCAC 09. ~~0106(d) 0106(d), or duplicated and counted by machine.~~ Ballots accepted by the machines during the recount shall not be counted by hand, regardless of whether the ballot is marked, contains overvotes, or is blank. The board of elections having jurisdiction over the ballot item shall schedule the first recount to begin within 3 business days of the demand for a mandatory recount or the decision to conduct a discretionary recount under G.S. 163-182.7, except the recount shall begin no earlier than the conclusion of the county canvass meeting pursuant to G.S. 163-182.5.

*Authority G.S. 163-22; 163-182.7.*

### **08 NCAC 09 .0110 SECONDARY RECOUNTS**

For any hand-to-eye recount conducted under G.S. 163-182.7A, each county board of elections involved in the recount shall provide notice at least 24 hours in advance of the recount by email to the county board's notice list under G.S. 143-318.12(b)(2), county party chairs, and the candidates in the contest subject to the recount. No separate notice of a hand-to-eye recount is required if the hand-to-eye recount occurs immediately upon the conclusion of the first recount under 08 NCAC 09 .0107 and the notice of the first recount stated that a hand-to-eye recount, if required, could take place upon the conclusion of the first recount. The board of elections having jurisdiction over the ballot item under G.S. 163-182.7 shall schedule any hand-to-eye recount to begin within 2 business days of the demand for a hand-to-eye recount, whether that recount is a sample recount or a full recount.

*Authority G.S. 163-22; 163-182.7; 163-182.7A.*